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			For my wife and soulmate, Wendy

			 

			You inspired this story that November night after we watched the 1951 A Christmas Carol. Your sense of justice compelled you to observe that if Scrooge had experienced a life-altering change of heart, why didn’t this ardent desire to set right his past wrongs extend to his former fiancée Allyce? This was brought home by Scrooge’s poignant reaction when he and the Ghost of Christmas Present beheld Allyce working in a Victorian homeless shelter on Christmas Eve. It took a woman's heart to see the contradiction, and from that heart, a novel was born.

			 

			You are forever my Allyce.

		


		
			AUTHOR’S NOTE

			Our story begins in 1856, several years after the original events depicted in Charles Dickens’ novella A Christmas Carol. Ebenezer Scrooge is now a fifty-nine-year-old thriving London merchant with a stellar reputation as a fair businessman and de facto second father to his clerk Bob Cratchit’s family, who call him “Uncle Ebenezer” as a term of endearment. This story follows the narrative arc found in the 1951 Renown Pictures Corporation Ltd. UK film A Christmas Carol, starring Alastair Sim. In the 1951 film, Scrooge’s ex-fiancée Belle was referred to as Alice, here spelled Allyce and depicted as a war widow. 

			In 2008, A.O. Scott, film critic for The New York Times, made a video describing why, out of all the film adaptations of A Christmas Carol, the 1951 British film starring Alistair Sim is the best of them all. (Note that the film was originally released as Scrooge in the UK and re-titled A Christmas Carol for US audiences.) With apologies to Dickens purists, I have endeavored to build this novel off the 1951 film.

		


		
			1[image: ]

			A Good Uncle, Indeed

			On a frigid, windswept late February night in 1856, Ebenezer Scrooge, his longtime clerk, Bob Cratchit, and Bob’s wife, Emily, emerged from London’s Royal Opera House into a sudden, fierce snow squall.

			“We’re ever so grateful for being your guests tonight, Mr. Scrooge,” said Emily Cratchit as she tightened her wool scarf against the wind-driven snow. “First, a right fancy dinner at Bella Ragazza and then an evening at the opera. Why, I felt like Queen Victoria herself!”

			“I didn’t even know there was a restaurant in London town that served proper Italian food, sir,” said her husband, Bob, shielding his eyes as a sudden gust blew a stinging cloud of fat snowflakes into his face.

			“Why, nonsense, you two,” said Scrooge with a smile. “It makes perfect sense to have a nice Italian meal before enjoying Verdi’s Rigoletto. I should think the two go rather well together—Italian food and the opera. Besides, I do believe Bella Ragazza was the first Italian restaurant to open in London, and you both saw how crowded it was. One of my associates at the Royal Exchange says the owner, Francesco DiStefano, is famous back in Milan and Florence for his restaurants there. Furthermore, Bob, with that enormous family of yours and the crowd of grandchildren forever racing about, I should think you would both enjoy a quiet night away from the hurly-burly of the day.” Scrooge raised his hand to hail a hansom cab. He looked over his shoulder at Emily.

			“How many grandchildren are you two up to now?”

			“That’d be nine, sir, with two more on the way.” The Cratchits beamed at the mention of their beloved grandchildren.

			Scrooge succeeded in drawing the attention of one of the cabs lined up outside of the Royal Opera House. “Now, let’s get a nice warm ride home rather than fight Father Winter on our feet like Napoleon’s army!”

			Bob Cratchit began to protest, but the words died in his throat as the snow squall suddenly turned into a full-on, heavy, wind-whipped storm. “Me and the missus are much obliged to you, Mr. Scrooge. We could walk home tonight, sir; you’ve already been more than genero—” but Scrooge cut him off mid-sentence.

			“Bob, you may wish to walk home in this icy winter nonsense, but I think your good missus would appreciate a comfortable and especially dry conveyance home, as befits a lady,” Scrooge said, playfully winking at Emily Cratchit. “Let’s ask the good Mrs. Cratchit. Am I mistaken?”

			“Well, no, sir. I don’t fancy walking back to Camden Town in this awful nastiness.” The snow and the evening darkness hid the blush that spread across her cheeks.

			Emily Cratchit was a good, simple woman and not used to what some people would consider the luxury of a hansom cab. Ever since that Christmas when a wonderful change had come over Ebenezer Scrooge, he had become a truly generous friend to the Cratchit family. Scrooge had not only doubled her husband’s salary, but also insisted on helping the family with the gift of a down payment for a much better, though unpretentious, house in a nicer part of Camden Town.

			Scrooge called up to the driver, “To 87 Pratt Street, Camden Town, my good man! There’s no rush in this snowy mess, so take care not to let your horses lose their footing! I trust they are well-shod, sir?”

			The driver called down from his perch, “Me ’orses were well and newly shod three days ago, good sir, and I loves them as me own! We’ll get you good folks home in decent time, nice ’n’ safe!” The brown-and-black carriage trundled away down London’s cobblestone streets, its golden lamps just visible in the driving February snow.

			Once the little party was nestled inside the roomy carriage, the conversation turned to the Cratchit family. Scrooge looked at Emily and asked, “How did Tiny—oh, I’m dreadfully sorry—Tim’s latest visit to Dr. Harshaw go? Are his legs still fit?”

			Mrs. Cratchit smiled gratefully and said, “Our Tim went for those treatments twice a week for four years, Mr. Scrooge, due to your kindness. As you know, Dr. Harshaw said his condition was a paralysis of the lower extremities caused by rickets. Our Tim’s legs are now just like the lad ’imself—as good as gold. No more crutch, no more braces on ’is legs neither. Sir, you wouldn’t even know Tim’s legs were feeble; he runs with the other lads at school like he was one of the Queen’s own deer in Sherwood Preserve, and you yourself have seen the way the boy’s grown, shooting up like a weed in me summer garden.”

			A smile broke out on Scrooge’s face before turning to mock sternness.

			“Emily, how many times have I told you? Please call me Ben or at least Ebenezer. Too many people associate the name Scrooge with someone I’d rather forget. Your Tim played a great part in helping me see that life spent in pursuit of only money is the root of evil, as the Gaffer Swanthold would say. But putting money to good purpose, now that’s a different issue, eh? I’ll wager your Tim would agree!”

			Mrs. Cratchit still had a difficult time endeavoring to call her husband’s boss “Ben.” Bob Cratchit broke in.

			“You know, sir, Tim’s been talking about a calling to the ministry, as they say. He’s sixteen and already a senior altar boy at Saint Hubert’s. He sometimes gets a bit peculiar, sir, when he’s at Sunday Lord’s Supper.”

			Scrooge cocked his head.

			“Peculiar? How so?”

			“Well, si…errr, Ben, as you please. Perhaps peculiar ain’t the right word. I’d wager thoughtful would put it better. He’s ever so attentive to Reverend Braithwaite, and then after the service, he’ll ask me questions like, ‘Father, if the Lord is so good, then why does He permit men to do such wicked things? Surely, He who raised Lazarus from the dead can put things right in our sad world.’ Then, if Tim hears word that the Right Reverend Keble is coming down from Hursley for Sunday services, why, these two horses taking us home couldn’t drag him away from Saint Hubert’s.”

			At that point, Emily Cratchit broke in, emphasizing Scrooge’s preferred means of address for effect. “Why, Ben, like Bob said, our Tim’s now sixteen, and I wouldn’t at all be surprised by a ‘calling’ in that one neither. The Lord calls who He will, so if He calls our Tim, God bless him for it.”

			Scrooge just smiled and changed the topic to the Cratchits’ eldest son, Peter, his wife, Charlotte, and their children.

			“Now tell me, what’s the news of the day about Peter and his family? Is Charlotte still in the hospital?”

			Bob and Emily Cratchit took on an inadvertent, somber demeanor at the mention of their eldest son and unfortunate daughter-in-law, who was gravely ill with consumption.

			“Well, Charlotte is a more delicate question, Mr. Scrooge, sir.”

			Bob’s never going to stop calling me “Mr. Scrooge,” thought Scrooge. And I suppose I’ll just go on letting him.

			Bob continued, “Begging your pardon, sir, because I don’t like to complain, but our Charlotte’s consumption doesn’t seem to be getting worse, but she ain’t getting any better neither. I can’t see how being locked up in the Royal Infirmary for Consumption and Ailments of the Chest with all those other poor souls constantly coughing up Lord-knows-what all day has done her health any good these past three months. She just wheezes and coughs. It’s absolutely dreadful to see how just the coughing wears down her strength.”

			An unexpected gloom settled over the previous gaiety as the cab slowly made its way to Camden Town—until Scrooge struck his cane on the cab floor for emphasis as an idea hit him.

			“What that daughter-in-law of yours needs is summer in the country, not the soot-filled London air of an infirmary that’s little more than a warehouse for the sick! Sitting day after day in a drafty old ward full of consumptives, souls with pneumonia, and Lord-knows-what-other-strange-lung-maladies isn’t going to do her a bit of good. Perhaps we can look into sending Peter’s family on a nice long summer holiday to the south of Italy, Bob. I’d wager her lungs would clear of consumption in no time at all.” Scrooge settled back with a smile, quite pleased with his idea.

			Emily momentarily brightened at the suggestion before turning downcast.

			“Ben, ordinarily I’d already have the cab going to Charlotte’s hospital right now with that idea, but I know she’d never leave Peter and her home. And Peter, he’s so proud that if the Queen herself offered to help them, he’d turn Her Majesty’s generosity down on principle.”

			 At that moment, the cab came to a slow stop, and the driver called out, “Here’s 87 Pratt Street, Camden Town!” He yanked the cab door open and helped Emily Cratchit step with attentive care down the hansom cab’s steep, snow-covered steps. Once on the street, she turned to look back up at Scrooge as Bob, stepped out.

			“Could we trouble you to come in fer a nice cup of hot tea, sir?” asked Emily.

			But Scrooge was too wily not to recognize the Cratchits’ clumsy attempt to change the subject. These poor folks are already totaling up the price of treating Charlotte in a nice and dry warmer clime in their heads. When will they learn life’s not about money? Scrooge thought, rolling his eyes. John Heywood’s old proverb came to mind: “You can lead a horse to water, but you can’t make it drink.”

			“I’m afraid I’ll have to be taking you up on your kind offer of tea when Father Winter doesn’t have a say in the matter, Emily. I’m sure Mrs. Dilber has been fretting about my whereabouts and has had a kettle boiling for my evening Twinings for the last hour anyway. I should get home before the water boils away.” He called up to the cab driver. “You’ve got one final stop, my good man: number 38 Belgrave Square down in Belgravia Park!” Leaning closer to the window, Scrooge called out, “A good night to you both!”

			Bob and Emily Cratchit’s fading voices called back, “Thank you again for a delightful evening, Mr. Ebenezer!” as they hurried out of the snow and into the warmth of their house.
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			A short time later, the cab pulled up to Scrooge’s home at 38 Belgrave Square, a short distance from Buckingham Palace in London’s exclusive Belgravia neighborhood. Scrooge lived in an elegant but modestly decorated Georgian townhouse facing the lush Eaton Square Garden, having sold off his former business partner Jacob Marley’s drafty old mansion years earlier.

			“That’ll be one shilling and tuppence, sir,” the cabbie said as he opened the carriage door for Scrooge.

			Scrooge pulled out his purse and turned away from the blinding snow. He pulled out three shillings and sixpence, handing them to the surprised driver.

			The cabbie blinked at the coins in his hand and blurted out, “Thank you, sir!”

			“Well, my good fellow, you did make the equivalent of two separate trips in this accursed weather tonight, and your noble beasts acquitted themselves rather well this dreadful night. I think you rather well earned those shillings and sixpence this night. Just be sure to be giving a small share of that extra money in good, fresh hay to your steadfast beasts. I’m sure they had no choice about being out and about in this mess.” Scrooge grinned as he patted the brown, snowy flanks of the nearest horse with his gloved hand. As if in agreement, both horses whinnied and shook the snow from their frosty manes.

			Scrooge doffed his hat to the driver, bid him a good evening, and hurried to unlock his door. Mrs. Dilber, hearing the key in the lock, rushed to open the door.

			“Goodness, Mr. Scrooge! You’re the very picture of Jack Frost himself! Come on now. Let’s get you out of that wet coat and hat. I’ve a nice roaring fire for you in the smoking library and a kettle of your favorite tea ready to steep before you retire,” she said.

			“Thank you, Mrs. Dilber,” Scrooge said. “I’ll be along to the library presently.”

			A few minutes later, as Scrooge walked into his library and settled into his favorite chair near the hearth, a dark feline shadow detached itself from the shadows along the wall. The sinewy, dark gray cat rubbed against his leg, jumped up, and curled into his lap. Scrooge began to stroke the top of the cat’s head absentmindedly as he stared into the fire. “Were you a good boy for Mrs. Dilber, Julius?” he asked as his housekeeper entered with the tea tray loaded down with a silver service full of steaming Darjeeling tea and a hot buttered cinnamon scone.

			“Oh, Mr. Julius and his partner in crime, Mr. Caesar, begging yer pardon, was me polite pals for the whole evenin’, sir. I really do think the little moggies know when yer coming home after being out and about. They began wandering about for the last ’alf an hour making their racket the way they always do when yer on yer way home.” The big gray cat began a deeper purr as if he agreed with Mrs. Dilber. “Will you be needing anything else tonight, sir?”

			“Other than fetching my pipe and a fresh tin of Samuel Gawith tobacco, Mrs. Dilber, I’ll be just fine. You can retire for the evening if you’d like. I’ll set the tray in the kitchen when I’m off to sleep.”

			“Very good, sir. You’ll be having the cherry tobacco, sir?”

			“Yes, Mrs. Dilber. I think Julius and Caesar would approve of the Gawith’s Black Cherry. They seem to think it smells like the catnip in the summer garden.”

			The housekeeper reappeared a few minutes later with a small tin and Scrooge’s pipe.

			“I trust you enjoyed Verdi tonight,” she said. “Have a good evening, Mr. Scrooge. Shall I close the library door?”

			“You can leave it open—I wouldn’t want to trap Julius in here. Heaven knows that door has seen enough of his claws’ wrath. Besides, Caesar will discover where Julius and I are hidden soon enough, and I’ll not suffer his jealousy because he thinks Julius is getting special treatment. No, Mrs. Dilber, you go along and sleep peaceably.”

			Scrooge stared into the flames and embers within the marble hearth as he puffed his old Meerschaum pipe, and tendrils of sweet aromatic tobacco smoke wound their way toward the designs stamped into the tin ceiling. His thoughts kept returning to Bob and Emily Cratchit. They had faced many challenges during their marriage, yet their marriage endured. With every tragedy life could employ to discourage the couple, they not only turned aside with a cheerful determination but did it together. Take Tiny Tim, for example, Scrooge mused, although on consideration he hadn’t exactly been “tiny” for years since recovering from rickets. Many families would have taken the shameful but all-too-common road of putting the child away in an orphanage for crippled children instead of dealing with the constant day-to-day strain of raising and caring for a little boy afflicted with such weak legs. That was love, Scrooge concluded. Real, enduring love.

			The fearsome “Night of the Ghosts,” as he looked back on it, ended Scrooge’s parsimonious treatment of his long-suffering clerk, who had quietly endured the old Ebenezer Scrooge’s abusive treatment for over nine years. Scrooge knew justice demanded it, and so it was. One of Scrooge’s first actions after his change of heart and spiritual outlook was to double Bob Cratchit’s salary to thirty shillings a week.

			But for all his moral change of heart, Ebenezer Scrooge remained a very lonely man whose only real companionship were his playful cats Julius and Caesar. Of course, he saw his own grandnieces and nephews when his nephew, Fred Holywell, and his wife came visiting with their children, but that was becoming less frequent now that Fred had moved the family from London to be near his employer’s new factory in Coventry—almost a hundred miles away.

			Caesar announced his arrival with a soft meow and curled up on the carpet by the fire. Scrooge smiled when he recalled how he had found the dark gray tabby and his equally diminutive black-and-white brother one drizzly night the previous autumn when the pair of tiny starving kittens followed Scrooge home from his evening after-dinner walk. He remembered it well.

			Scrooge heard the mewling noises of the tiny, frightened animals as he was strolling through Eaton Square Garden. Scrooge knew he had pursuers when, after a few minutes, the tiny sounds didn’t fade into the distance, but grew louder. Finally, as he prepared to exit the park, he turned to see one of the intrepid kittens peering at him hopefully from underneath a pink rose bush. Scrooge crouched down and began speaking to the frightened orphans in quiet, gentle tones as the kittens inched their way closer. A wide smile crossed his face.

			“Come now, my little friends. I don’t doubt your bravery, but it’s getting much too dark for a couple of intrepid explorers like you to be out and about by yourselves on a wet night like this.” When Scrooge saw that the emaciated pair looked as if they hadn’t eaten in a day or two, he was sure they had been abandoned—dumped in the park to fend for themselves. His heart immediately went out to the wide-eyed felines staring at him with equal parts fear and hope.

			“I’m sure we can convince Mrs. Dilber to part with a nice little piece of leftover chicken or a wee bit of beef, eh? I’ll even see that it’s washed down with a nice saucer full of cool water.” Scrooge remembered wondering what his business associates at the Royal London Exchange would have said if they could have seen him right then, crouched down talking in honeyed tones of reassurance to a couple of stray kittens shivering under a rose bush. Once they had crept close enough, Scrooge deftly scooped up the diminutive, protesting kittens and with great care, deposited each in a deep coat pocket. They were so young their teeth couldn’t bite, and their tiny claws felt rather like little brush bristles. Before putting them in his pockets, Scrooge couldn’t help smiling and pronouncing them “right soggy moggies.”

			He remembered Mrs. Dilber’s eyes widening in surprise at seeing him pull the shivering kittens from his coat pockets and proclaim with a proud smile that he had “just hired a pair of fearsome mouse-catching beasts.” After happily watching his voracious new charges clean off tiny saucers piled with small bits of chopped chicken liver, he had Mrs. Dilber fashion a box lined with an old blanket and place it in the corner of the kitchen near the stove. He crouched at the box and stroked their tiny foreheads until they fell asleep. Naming them Julius and Caesar, they had quickly grown into a pair of lovably mischievous, but immensely loyal sinewy charges who followed Scrooge’s every move around the large house with the tenacity of Scotland Yard detectives chasing a suspect.

			But for all their affectionate behavior, Julius and Caesar were cats, not people, and aside from his business compatriots at the Royal Exchange, Scrooge was very much alone. As his thoughts often did, with some regret, they drifted back to the vision of feminine loveliness to whom Scrooge was once engaged to marry, Allyce Simpson, now Mrs. Allyce Bainbridge. Years earlier, while working his way ever higher in the banking and loan industry, first under the benevolent eyes of old Fezziwig, and then later the rapacious Mr. Jorkin, Scrooge had been engaged for years to the beautiful Allyce.

			Scrooge remembered the first time he saw Allyce. It was at a Christmas Eve party thrown by his jolly old boss, Mr. Fezziwig, where he was first apprenticed as a junior clerk of twenty-nine. She was a shy slip of loveliness, almost seventeen years old, and her mother worked as a milliner for Fezziwig’s wife. While a gawky Scrooge stood along the wall and pondered how he would work up the courage to approach such a vision of loveliness, old Fezziwig himself, in his Welsh wig and his trademark fashions of a bygone era, came to Scrooge’s rescue and clapped his hands, calling for a rest for the dancers and the fiddlers. After a short break, Fezziwig then merrily announced the traditional couples’ dance, the “Sir Roger de Coverley,” and without thinking, Scrooge had stood and reached for young Allyce’s hand with a boldness he did not think he possessed. Upon seeing the usually reserved Scrooge reaching for the beautiful Allyce’s hand, his boss smiled and recalled Erasmus’s dictum that, “Faint heart never won fair maiden.”

			Love, bright and white-hot, emerged from that dance and for years afterward with promises of marriage and children. Scrooge kept putting off the marriage until “the time was just right,” but in the end, he had pushed the long-suffering Allyce’s patience past its breaking point with his growing greed. Scrooge still recalled, as a keen emotional blade of regret and pain twisted in his stomach, the look on Allyce’s face as she handed him back his betrothal ring. The plainspoken, anguished truth she told him would come back to haunt him time and again: “Ebenezer, our promise to each other is an old one, made when we were young and in love. Would you seek me out now, a poor girl with no dowry to offer? The look on your face already betrays your answer.” The question was rhetorical, for the headstrong, haughty Scrooge knew the answer, and so did Allyce, so she didn’t wait for a reply. She hurried off, not wanting the cold, dispassionate businessman Scrooge had turned into to see her tears of grief overflowing and sliding down her face.

			Had he been in his right senses, Scrooge mused while stroking the “M” pattern on the purring Julius’s forehead, he would have gotten up straight away to pursue Allyce and confess his foolishness. In any case, it would have been to no avail. Scrooge, by then a protégé of the cunning Mr. Jorkin, was priggishly certain Allyce was a silly, ignorant woman who was incapable of seeing the practical importance of accumulating enough wealth for maintaining one’s proper station in life. His haughty earlier incarnation had strung Allyce along for far longer than proper courtship and engagement etiquette of the time called for until she realized Scrooge would never change back to the dashing but shy man she had fallen for at Fezziwig’s Christmas Eve party.

			Instead, Scrooge rued that those changes required a nightmarish visit from the decomposing ghost of his late business partner, Jacob Marley, and the intervention of three spirits from beyond to scare decency, compassion, and good Christian charity back into him years later.

			Besides, he recalled, Allyce Simpson didn’t exist anymore; she was now Mrs. Tristan Bainbridge, a wife, a mother. He ruminated that as he was now a hale and healthy fifty-nine years old, so Allyce would now be in her early forties. Sipping his tea and tamping a pinch of fresh tobacco into his pipe, he reflected on how much happier his life would have been had he married Allyce. Ebenezer Scrooge was now very wealthy—perhaps one of the richest men in all of London (which also meant all of Her Majesty’s realm)—but a vault at the Bank of England brimming with gold sovereigns and silver crowns could not purchase love. Allyce had truly loved him, and in return, he broke her heart. Was there such a thing as “one true love?” After returning his ring, Allyce met Captain Tristan Bainbridge of Her Majesty’s elite Coldstream Guards and was now the mother of two children. Scrooge recalled a line from the new poem by that American poet, John Greenleaf Whittier: “For of all sad words of tongue or pen, The saddest are these, ‘It might have been!’”

			As he drank his cooling tea and shooed a protesting Julius off his lap to stir the dying embers in the hearth back into some semblance of life, Scrooge ruminated with ineffable sadness that Whittier was right: the most bitter pill a man could swallow in life was regret. And it was at times like these, late at night and alone with his thoughts, with only Julius and Caesar and their soft, purring companionship, when he felt the lancing pangs of his unrequited love for Allyce at their fiercest. This was doubly so after having been in the company of contented married folks like the Cratchits. Scrooge thought, aside perhaps from the death of a child, there was no pain in the world more keenly felt than to have lost true love. This is why, at the end of the day, despite his vast wealth, he often fancied Bob Cratchit to be a far richer man than himself. Those times he accompanied Bob home to dinner at the end of the day, whoever of the Cratchit grandchildren happened to be visiting would gleefully greet Bob and them with cries of, “Grandfather! Uncle Ebenezer!” There were no expectations on the part of the Cratchit grandchildren of anything more than a heartfelt hug and kiss, with perhaps the occasional little bag of Heath’s toffee sweets thrown in for good measure. Then came the happily noisy commotion of mealtime before they went home or off to bed. Scrooge often thought of his adopted grandchildren as a happy little army whose rallying cry was, “Read us another story, Uncle Ebenezer!”

			Watching Julius and Caesar wrestle on the rug in front of the dying fire, Scrooge knew he should be grateful for his new outlook on life these past years, but shadows of much happier times with Allyce lurked at the ragged edge of his thoughts, refusing to be dismissed. The soles of his boots were beginning to feel the warmth from the deep red coals in the hearth, and he wished that the same sort of warmth might enfold his heart again someday.

			He roused himself from his melancholy thoughts, announcing bedtime to the ever-watchful cats.

			“Come, Julius. Come, Caesar. Time to visit the Land of Morpheus!” The cats immediately sat up at the sound of Scrooge calling their names. “As the morrow is the third Sunday of the month, I promised Tim Cratchit I’d come to Saint Hubert’s to hear his famous Right Reverend Keble preach the service.” Scrooge padded off to his bedchamber after depositing the tea tray in the kitchen, silently followed by the ever-dutiful Julius and Caesar, padding along behind him like silent sentinels.
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			Family Affair

			Several years earlier, in 1852, after numerous attempts, Hawthorne and Cavendish Furniture and Carpentry Works of London was still basking in the glow of receiving its first-ever Royal Warrant of Appointment from Queen Victoria in 1851 as a supplier of fine furnishings and woodwork to the Crown. It was also where Scrooge’s nephew, Fred Holywell, worked as a solicitor and Bob Cratchit’s eldest son, Peter, was employed as Senior Clerk First-Class. Sir Nigel Fairweather-Hawthorne, a notorious, cutthroat, avaricious businessman, and owner of Hawthorne and Cavendish, was locked in bitter rivalry with London’s premier woodworking firm, Holland and Sons Fine Furnishers and Outfitters. The companies competed against each other in every major prestigious International Exhibition of the nineteenth century. Sir Nigel still nursed a bitter grudge against Holland and Sons for their triumph over Hawthorne and Cavendish at the 1851 Great Exhibition of the Works of Industry of All Nations. For this first World’s Fair, Holland and Sons had created an enormous, exotic wood bookcase for Prince Albert of Saxe-Coburg and Gotha, Queen Victoria’s husband and consort, which won the 1851 Exhibition’s “Great Prize” for its beauty, elegance, and unparalleled craftsmanship.

			Furious with Holland and Sons for having prevailed over his own company’s entries at the 1851 Great Exhibition—and always nursing a perceived slight of some sort or another—Sir Nigel was already scheming with his cousin Grenville Linton-Gower, the 2nd Earl of Grenville and organizer of the 1862 Great Exhibition, in a bid to become sole Royal Warrant provisioner of milled lumber and furnishings to the Royal Navy fleet reconstruction program. True, there were no royal honors and accolades to be had with this contract, but there was money to be made—prodigious sums of money. But as the planning for the 1862 Great Exhibition would not begin in earnest until 1860, for the time being, his cousin Grenville, in recognition and reward for his oversight of the successful 1851 Great Exhibition, was appointed head of the Department of the Permanent Secretary to the Admiralty. Grenville was responsible for the control, direction, and guidance of all administrative functions of the British Admiralty, including contract awards.

			Against this backdrop, Sir Nigel received a curious note from his cousin Grenville requesting to meet him and a “special acquaintance” in England’s seaside resort of Brighton in late spring 1852 at the Grand Brighton Hotel. The letter from Grenville also stipulated that Sir Nigel was to maintain absolute secrecy and tell no one of his travel plans. Upon arriving at the hotel, Sir Nigel was to announce himself to the front desk clerk as Mr. Remington, a guest of “Mr. William Pembroke in Room 209.” Knowing his ambitious cousin always had a touch of grand larceny in his heart, but intrigued nevertheless, Sir Nigel told his senior staff he had been called away on important business for the week and that Fred Holywell was interim company supervisor while he was away.

			Sir Nigel arrived at the Grand Brighton Hotel on a bright late May morning in 1852 and, per his cousin’s instructions, presented himself at the expansive front desk to the clerk in charge.

			“Good morning, my good man,” Sir Nigel said, announcing himself to the clerk on duty. “My name is John Remington and I’m here as a guest of Mr. William Pembroke in Room 209.”

			At the name John Remington, the clerk brightened.

			“Very well, sir. We’ve been expecting you. I’ve got a note from Mr. Pembroke to send you up to his room straight away on your arrival,” the clerk said. “Just take the staircase over there to the right to the second floor and, turning right, proceed down the hall to the ninth room on the left. Please do enjoy your stay, Mr. Remington.”

			“Thank you,” said Sir Nigel, placing a one-shilling tip on the hotel counter as he turned away. Moments later, he was knocking at Room 209 when the door was opened with a sly smile by his cousin Grenville Linton-Gower. 

			“Come in, Nigel—do come in!” exclaimed Grenville as he closed and locked the door behind his cousin. “I’m so very pleased you could make the journey down from London today, cousin. As it’s too early for high tea, I’ve taken the liberty of having a light early lunch brought up a short while ago. I hope you’ll join me.”

			He beckoned his cousin through a sizeable double-width door to a spacious room patio overlooking the sunny English Channel. A table for two was set with a sumptuous formal lunch, with sandwiches, fruit, and a selection of fine English teas.

			After pleasantries were dispensed with, Sir Nigel said, “All right, Grenville, you’ve got my curiosity going like cats when the fishmonger passes by. What is so bloody important that I had to take valuable time away from the company and sneak off sixty miles from London to meet you under such mysterious circumstances?”

			The 2nd Earl of Grenville relished being the bearer of good news.

			“I have stumbled upon something, cousin, that will make both of us very rich.” He paused to correct himself. “Well, it will make me a very tidy little sum,” Grenville said, spreading his hands in a trademark gesture of false modesty, “but it has the potential to make your little company famous and you very, very wealthy.”

			“Then out with it, man,” Sir Nigel said as he poured himself a cup of fragrant Oolong tea and dropped a sugar cube into the porcelain cup.

			Grenville smiled like the Cheshire cat. “I’ve heard from my friends in the Foreign Office that Czar Nicholas intends to push the Turkish sultan in Istanbul to recognize the Czar as the official ‘Protector of Christians in the Lands of the Ottomans.’”

			Sir Nigel mulled over this information from his cousin. “And how does this concern us, Grenville? Does the czar or the sultan need furnishings or an addition to a palace in Saint Petersburg?”

			Grenville paused. “No, cousin,” he said in a patronizing tone. “I’m talking about war and a very profitable war at that if we are patient and don’t overreach. There was a meeting between the Admiralty, the Foreign Office, and Prime Minister Smith-Stanley in the last fortnight. If Czar Nicholas invades the Ottoman Turks’ empire, then it was agreed at the meeting such an expansion of the Russian Empire would constitute an unacceptable threat to the British Empire and a casus belli.”

			“I don’t understand, Grenville,” said a perplexed Sir Nigel. “How is Russia such a dire threat to Queen Victoria’s realm?”

			“It’s easy when you step outside your provincial London shoes and think in terms of the ‘Great Game,’ dear Nigel,” Grenville said in a condescending tone. “Picture it as a game of dominoes if you like. We’ve long been in competition with Russia in Asia. You want to know why the czar would risk a wider war with England and France for the northern wastelands of the Turkish Empire? Because it would position Czar Nicholas to gain his long-coveted warm-water ports and naval bases on the Arabian Gulf and the Indian Ocean. From such a position, he could threaten India across the plains of Afghanistan and by sea, sever England from Australia, our Chinese colonies of Hong Kong, the Kowloon Peninsula, and our New Territories.

			“No, Nigel, those are very real threats to the empire Great Britain cannot allow. According to Admiral Finchley, if the Russians march on our Asian colonies, their supply lines will be only hundreds of miles long, but ours will be measured in thousands, sailing around Africa and the Cape of Good Hope. No, cousin, Russian war against the Turks Empire would be a foregone war cry for the British Empire,” Grenville concluded.

			Grenville saw that the words “a very profitable war” had garnered his cousin Nigel’s full attention, if not his exposition of the clear dangers the British Empire faced from Russia.

			“I read the minutes of the most recent Admiralty meeting. It is the consensus of the Admiralty and the Minister for War that the Royal Navy is woefully unprepared to support an extended war effort in Asia. As such, they have decided to embark upon the first major rebuilding of Her Majesty’s Navy in over sixty years since that nastiness with the colonies ended in 1783. I think if we seize the proper moment, Hawthorne and Cavendish will have an opportunity to become the sole supplier of milled hardwood products to the Royal Navy’s largest warship program in the last 150 years,” Grenville emphasized. “It’s a chance to put prodigious sums of gold in your accounts and a bee in the bonnet of your friends at Holland and Sons Fine Furnishers and Outfitters.”

			Grenville continued, “The Admiralty has drawn up a proposed list for the complete rebuild and refitting of the Royal Navy’s 131-gun Wellington class, 121-gun Royal Albert class, and the 121-gun Victoria class, as well as the first ships to be fitted with those fancy new high-pressure steam engines and iron armor amidships. Think, cousin! You could be the exclusive shipwright for not only twenty-four major Royal Navy warships, but could also become a force to be reckoned with in providing Her Majesty’s empire with a navy no other country would dare challenge for decades to come!”

			Grenville now had Sir Nigel’s full attention.

			“Grenville, how much of this is real, and how much is only Foreign Office and Admiralty Board gossip?” Sir Nigel asked.

			“Oh, it’s not gossip. Too many verified reports have come in of what the Russians are planning for Her Majesty to ignore any longer. The Admiralty has decided on a budget of just over £4 million for this and will be looking to select the winning bidder within the next two to four years at the latest, with the Royal Navy looking for new ships to begin leaving the shipyard slipways in 1860. If your firm can partner with a supplier to help with the heavy lifting, financially and materially, Hawthorne and Cavendish could grow tenfold in that time. If you follow this to the logical conclusion, you’ll need to purchase your own shipyards, cousin.”

			Sir Nigel snorted in derision.

			“Right, my own bloody shipyards. Have you taken leave of your senses, man? Do you know how much it takes to purchase or build a shipyard, Grenville? Not to mention the prodigious quantities of board acreage in every sort of wood it would take for such a venture to succeed. Then, if you’re talking about the proposed iron warships driven by those fancy new steam engines, that’s another matter of industry altogether.”

			Grenville smiled. “Perhaps you’re not thinking grand enough, Nigel. I know for a fact that the John Scott Russell and Company Millwall Iron Works on Thames has been having difficulty paying its bills and some shipyards are in arrears for money they cannot hope to repay any time soon. Although considerable progress has been made in obtaining machinery for new boilers, steam fittings, pipes, copper, and iron smithing, Russell’s Millwall Iron Works is a mere two months from the bankruptcy court.”

			Sir Nigel poured a bit of milk into his tea.

			“I won’t presume to ask how you happen to be privy to these rather confidential details. I’m sure old Johnny Russell didn’t volunteer them to you.”

			“No, you’re quite right, Nigel, but time-to-time interesting papers come across my desk and I make note of certain…details,” Grenville said with a smug grin. “That said, if Millwall yards cannot meet their obligations, then the entire enterprise will go up on the auction block for a song. Mr. Russell is most anxious to avoid the humiliation of the Russell family name being sullied. As for sourcing wood like teak, the Admiralty gets most of it from India and certain provinces of Southeast Asia and is keen for the czar not to get his hands on those supplies or cut off our access to it. It already takes four months to sail from Bombay to Portsmouth and a bit longer from Australia. Would Her Majesty agree to surrender our Indian and Australian colonies to Russia?”

			Not being schooled in the facts of seamanship nor a knowledgeable grasp of geography and navigation, Sir Nigel pondered the thought for a moment. Finally, he asked, “Then why not just sail southwest from Portsmouth below South America and thence on to Australia or India around Cape Horn at the Tierra del Fuego? You’d avoid the Russian fleet, and we’re more than a match for the Spaniards.”

			Grenville sighed at his cousin’s maritime ignorance.

			“Nigel, no merchant or naval sea captain in his right mind will sail around South America. At Cape Horn, there are the fearsome, sudden williwaws storms. Hundreds of ships and thousands of poor sailors have gone down to Davy Jones’s Locker attempting that route. That’s not figuring in that safely sailing around Cape Horn adds almost three to four thousand nautical miles to the voyage, entailing expensive port calls and fleet reprovisioning.”

			“All right, I’m convinced—the Crown has real reason to fear Czar Nicholas’s ambitions; the Royal Navy needs an upgrade and a new class of iron warships. They’ll need a ship-of-the-line shipyard and yards that can handle the new iron ships. But be practical, Grenville—don’t we have enough lumber here in England?”

			“No, Nigel, most of our shipbuilding lumber comes from Canada, Germany, and the Baltics.”

			Sir Nigel raised an eyebrow.

			“So, the Canadian colonies will source the lumber?”

			A peculiar gleam came into Grenville’s eye. “No, we’d be looking to the Americans for this venture. We’ve procured it from Canada because, until now, there’s been a lack of viable, and more importantly, consistent alternatives. Canada’s railways won’t meet the Royal Navy’s needs for at least another twenty years, and that is far too late. On the other hand, the Americans have two thousand miles of warm Atlantic coastline and any number of major shipping ports located in profitable proximity to their lumber production. Each day their railways expand in every direction of the compass by hundreds of miles. The Admiralty recognizes Her Majesty’s Royal Treasury is not bottomless, so there is a keen interest in preserving our gold reserves as far as is practical.”

			Sir Nigel interjected, “I’m sure the Americans realize their advantages with every sort of raw material. What kind of discounted rates are they really willing to offer? I’ve learned the hard way, cousin, courtesy of that young wizard, Peter, in my employ, that if a business deal seems too good to be true, it is.”

			Grenville grinned. “How does thirty percent off the prevailing rates strike you, cousin?”

			“Are they mad or just stupid?” Sir Nigel found himself wishing he had his prodigy, Peter Cratchit, with him at that moment. I’m out of my depth discussing naval shipbuilding with Grenville, Nigel rued, oblivious to the irony.

			“Neither cousin. Our American cousins are practical businessmen,” Grenville responded. Grenville always relished the opportunity to lecture his cousin about his newfound passion for all things nautical, and this was no exception.

			“The Admiralty’s naval architects have realized the woodland resources in America are vastly superior to the dwindling forests centuries of harvesting wood from the British Isles themselves have left us with. True, Canada has made up for a good amount of what we no longer have here at home, plus Germany and the Baltics, but even the mighty Royal Navy must pay mind to what the scriveners at the Royal Treasury tell us. But still, the Admiralty gets nervous when they think about the Imperial Russian Navy cutting off our freedom to the open sea.”

			“What quantities of wood are we speaking about?” Sir Nigel asked.

			Grenville poured himself another tea.

			“You’ll recall the HMS Victory, Lord Nelson’s flagship at Trafalgar? According to Admiralty records, somewhere around six thousand trees were needed to build just HMS Victory alone, not to mention the other fleet ships that fought at Trafalgar. Almost a hundred acres of oak trees were cleared using simple hand tools in Kent and Sussex forests. Most of the wood used in Victory’s construction was oak, a lot of it two feet thick in places on the hull. The largest oak trees available were cut for her because strong one-piece construction is preferred when building a large ship-of-the-line. Gigantic elm trunks are used for the keel and finally, fir and spruce, making up most of the decks, yardarms, masts, and whatnot. Lately we’ve begun importing teak from India for our ship decks, because teak’s oil content gives the ship the highest decay resistance among all natural woods. It’s just so blasted expensive, we use what teak we can get for decks.”

			Sir Nigel sipped his tea and listened patiently, assuming this lesson in shipbuilding minutiae was leading somewhere.

			“The Americans’ New England fir and spruce offer masts and spars of such immense strength and height that our shipwrights don’t need to spend months curing and laminating them to make the masts Her Majesty’s larger ships-of-the-line need. Their southern live oak offers more advantages for wooden ship construction than many of our existing British shipwrights can even handle. The wood is amazingly strong, and that’s where another advantage for you comes to the fore.”

			“Oh?” Sir Nigel stared archly.

			“Yes, the American oak is of such strength and durability compared to the Canadian wood that our shipyards and naval carpenters have trouble even working with the blasted stuff because it quickly dulls our tools to the point of extreme frustration. Still, our American cousins have found ways around that too, with a special ‘high-carbon’ steel, as their metallurgists call it. They’ve invented a process that keeps the edge on their woodworking planes, adzes, chisels, and what have you, sharp quite a bit longer. Those bits of exclusive expertise in metals smelting and tool hardening will be yours as well, giving you a decided advantage over other shipyards.”

			Sir Nigel was impressed. Grenville had indeed done his homework on the matter.

			“But Grenville, if I were interested in participating in your plan, I would still need access to sums of money no bank in England or anywhere else, for that matter, would lend me. I’ve got no meaningful collateral.”

			The smug Grenville was endlessly pleased with himself. “Nigel, will you consent to dine with me here in my room tonight, say about seven o’clock? I think the answer to every question you have in mind will be put to rest in a most satisfactory manner.”

			Sir Nigel got up to leave when Grenville called out.

			“Nigel?”

			Nigel turned around. “Yes?”

			“You’ve told me many times of your wunderkind, that Senior Clerk First-Class you employ. What’s his name again?” Grenville asked, feigning ignorance. He had heard of Sir Nigel’s young business prodigy, Peter Cratchit, many a time.

			“Cratchit…Peter Cratchit. Why do you ask?”

			“I can say with confidence that if, or rather when, he is apprised of this potential arrangement, he will recommend without reserve that you proceed with all possible haste.”

			[image: ]

			When Sir Nigel returned to Room 209 at seven o’clock, he heard boisterous laughter and voices from behind the door, one of whom he recognized as his cousin.

			I wonder if this is Grenville’s “special acquaintance” he mentioned in his letter? he thought as he rapped on the door, his curiosity aroused. When he opened the door at his cousin’s invitation, a most unexpected sight greeted him. Grenville, who stood at a little over five feet, seven inches tall, was standing and smoking cigars next to the largest man Sir Nigel had ever seen—not the tallest, but the largest. This bearded Leviathan had to be every inch of seven feet tall and weigh four hundred pounds. As Nigel’s stunned gaze took in the behemoth before him, Grenville made the introductions.

			“Nigel! Right on time, as usual. May I introduce you to Mr. Cyrus Abernathy, president of the New York and Pennsylvania Coal and Lumber Company? Cyrus, this is my cousin I was telling you about yesterday, Sir Nigel Fairweather-Hawthorne, and the key to our success with the Admiralty Board. Sir Nigel is the owner and founder of Hawthorne and Cavendish Furniture and Carpentry Works of London.”

			Sir Nigel tried not to visibly wince as his right hand was engulfed in the bear-like paw of Cyrus Abernathy’s grip.

			“A pleasure to make your acquaintance, Mr. Abernathy,” Sir Nigel said. “Your reputation as an eminent American man of business precedes you.”

			“Cyrus is also the current president of the New York Stock Exchange, Nigel,” Grenville added in an ingratiating tone, glancing over at Abernathy.

			Abernathy gave Nigel’s hand a vigorous shake as he exhaled a cloud of smoke from his Cuban cigar. “The pleasure is mine, Nigel. You don’t mind if I call you Nigel, do you? I never could get on with all that pompous royalty nonsense. Earls and princes and knights…just a bunch of fairy tale titles for people who never did anything in life except be born to the right parents.”

			Although he bridled in silence at the implied insult to his knighthood, Sir Nigel held his tongue. I helped burn down your bloody White House during the War of 1812, you sweaty ox, he thought. That’s where I got my knighthood.

			“Not at all, if I may call you Cyrus,” Sir Nigel responded.

			“Of course, Nigel,” said the immense Abernathy, as he sat back in an oversized dinner chair—one that Sir Nigel observed had to be procured to adequately accommodate a man of Abernathy’s tremendous size. The chair’s joints creaked in protest as they came under assault from Abernathy’s prodigious weight.

			“Grenville here tells me your company turns out some of the finest furniture and building construction in England,” Abernathy observed.

			“No, not some of the finest, but the finest construction woodwork, cabinetry, and furniture in Europe,” Nigel retorted. “We received our Royal Warrant of Appointment from Queen Victoria in 1851 as a fine furnishings and woodwork supplier to the Crown.”

			The profusely sweating Abernathy pulled a handkerchief from his breast pocket and dabbed at the droplets on his forehead, then said, “Now, why don’t you tell this poor American simpleton what a Royal Warrant of Appointment means?”

			Sir Nigel gathered his dignity and said, “A Royal Warrant of Appointment is meant to put the public on official notice that the holder has supplied goods or services of such impeccable quality that it has been recognized and endorsed for use in the Royal Household of Her Majesty Queen Victoria. It is meant as an honor and, at the same time, to inspire the general public’s confidence. During such times as these when shoddy products are a prominent public issue, a Royal Warrant of Appointment is a very sought-after official endorsement from the Crown.”

			While expostulating on the meaning and value of a Royal Warrant of Appointment, Nigel marveled at the speed with which Cyrus Abernathy consumed dinner and the enormous quantities of food it involved. It consisted of an entire roast suckling pig stuffed with dark turkey meat, a china pot brimming with roasted garlic potatoes swimming in butter-cream sauce, an unfortunate forest of asparagus, and a small mountain of hot buttered rolls; all washed down with two carafes of vintage white wine. Abernathy didn’t eat food so much as he inhaled it, much the way other men breathed the air around them. It was an altogether repulsive, yet fascinating sight.

			Abernathy gave an enormous belch as Grenville said, gesturing toward Sir Nigel, “Cyrus, this man is the ticket to winning the contract for the Royal Navy’s fleet rebuilding program.”

			Abernathy arched an eyebrow as he fixed a skeptical gaze on Sir Nigel. “You have what it takes to rebuild the British Navy, Nigel? From what Grenville here has told me, what your navy proposes will surely mean rebuilding your largest ships from the keel up, not to mention a new fleet of steam-powered iron warships.”

			Nigel returned Abernathy’s gaze with a steady one of his own. “Yes, provided the proper financing is in place to accomplish the Admiralty’s goals. You’d have to secure long-term leasing on capable shipyards, purchase and transport of the necessary lumber, ship chandler’s supplies, the services of experienced shipwrights, carpenters, architects, iron workers, pipe-fitters, engineers, and so on. If we could fulfill these requirements, Hawthorne and Cavendish Furniture and Carpentry Works can fulfill the contracts to the Admiralty’s satisfaction.”

			Abernathy bridled at Sir Nigel’s long-winded explanation.

			Why can’t these self-important fops answer a direct question without reciting an encyclopedia? Why can’t he just say, “Yes, Cyrus. We can do everything and turn a tidy profit in the process?” Abernathy thought. Why didn’t this blowhard Nigel just bring along his boy genius clerk Grenville’s been bragging so much about instead? If he’s half the talent Grenville claims, he’d see I’m offering an amazing opportunity.

			Now it was Sir Nigel’s turn to satisfy his curiosity. “I’d like to know, Cyrus; what is your interest in this endeavor? Surely Grenville has told you this is only a speculative venture at this point?”

			Grenville nervously poured a round of fine port as a plume of cigar smoke erupted from Abernathy’s mouth before he replied. Abernathy then removed the cigar from his mouth before jabbing it at Sir Nigel across the table for emphasis. The lies rolled off his tongue, as Abernathy was well-versed in the art of dissembling, and he didn’t utter a word about his true reasons for wanting to gain a controlling interest in the massive Royal Navy program. He would buy up the shipyards involved and then sell them off piecemeal and, in the process, hobble the Royal Navy’s battle worthiness for years to come.

			He still remembered his aged father, Jason, many years earlier telling him how their family had been betrayed by the British Crown at the ignominious end of the revolt in the American colonies. The embittered elder, Jason Abernathy, ruminated to his very deathbed about that black day in November 1783 when the great British fleet sailed out of New York harbor and left hundreds of terrified Tory families still loyal to King George gathered at Manhattan’s docks to the not-so-tender mercies of the victorious American rebels. With the failure of his father’s mercantile business supplying provisions to the quartermaster of the massive British Manhattan garrison soon after British forces sailed from New York, his father died from bitterness. King George’s apparent betrayal of Loyalists consumed his soul like cancer. 

			The humiliation and the subsequent poverty that afflicted the once-proud Abernathy family made the young Cyrus vow to avenge his father’s humiliating death. From shoveling manure in a New York militia stable as a child to clawing his way to an education at Princeton University years later, avenging his father’s shameful end was the baleful fire that fueled Cyrus Abernathy’s ambition. It was only many years later that he hit upon the realization this could be best accomplished by using his business skills to financially cripple the British shipbuilding industry. By the time the clueless Englishmen realized what had happened to their storied shipyards, they would be presented with the fait accompli that Abernathy had dismantled their legendary shipbuilding industry wholesale right underneath their noses. But for now, noble lies would have to do.

			“I only care about business, Nigel. I couldn’t give a roasted fig about what empires over here go to war over some God-forsaken little parcel of land on the other side of the planet. Grenville here tried explaining it, all about ‘Great Games’ involving the Russians, the Turks, the Arabs with their camels in the Middle East, and it all made my head hurt worse than a bad cigar,” Abernathy said, making a self-deprecating gesture with his hands.

			But Cyrus Abernathy was no fool. He knew if the Russian czar coveted the Arab lands for the sea access they offered, the British and perhaps even the French Empire would go to war to protect their trade routes and precious Asian colonies. Abernathy knew he would do the same thing to a business competitor back in the United States who threatened his commercial interests. From his reading of history, it stood to reason that empires did the same; however, Abernathy also knew a modern war between empires across oceans and continents consumed immense quantities of weapons, food, and men. He would make the Abernathy name feared if not respected in the United Kingdom and, in the process, would right the injustice done to his father.

			“I do see a situation here that can provide a very profitable outcome for all concerned, Nigel, if we seize the opportunity,” Abernathy said, glancing sideways at Grenville. “War means business, Nigel, and the bigger the war, the more profitable the opportunity. I’m prepared to put up the equivalent of half a million British pounds to start with and provide North American lumber to boot at a thirty-percent discount over and above the best offer of any other wood supplier in Europe or North America for this project of Queen Victoria’s Navy. I’ll also sell you high-grade bituminous coal to use in those new steam-powered iron warships you want to build, and I’ll give you that at an equal discount as well for the first five years.”

			Abernathy smirked at both Grenville and Sir Nigel’s raised eyebrows.

			“What? Do you think I don’t know about the plans to fashion warships from iron and steel propelled by steam engines? Gentlemen, keep in mind your HMS Victory was in active service for fifty-eight years, but time and the science of war do not stand still. Even now, inventors in those deadly arts are readying cannon ammunition that will explode inside an enemy ship after striking it, not just punch holes in the hull like iron cannonballs or Congreve rockets do. Whereas the HMS Victory was able to withstand bombardment from Napoleon’s fleet at Trafalgar, it would only take four or five well-placed shots from these new cannon shells to sink her.”

			Abernathy pulled another cigar from his vest, clipped the end off, and lit it with a match from the fireplace.

			“No, gentlemen,” he said, “I’m a plain-spoken man. I want the New York and Pennsylvania Coal and Lumber Company to expand our offerings into Great Britain and beyond into Europe. I also intend to earn a tidy return on my investment to boot; I can’t say it any more directly. It’s like your Royal Warrants of Appointment. I want the pleasure of knowing my little New York and Pennsylvania Coal and Lumber Company leaves a lasting impression on the Throne of England,” Abernathy said with his greasy false modesty, fixing Sir Nigel with a grin. “Think of it as an American version of your British East India Company.”

			Abernathy omitted the fact that he was also a majority shareholder in the Pennsylvania Railroad Company, as well as majority owner of any number of the burgeoning freight railways crisscrossing the United States south of the Mason-Dixon line, bringing plantation tobacco, produce, and cotton to market. Cyrus Abernathy held a near-monopoly on getting export goods to market from inland Pennsylvania down to Georgia, meaning he controlled port access between New York City, Philadelphia, and Savannah. His total holdings made him much wealthier than the British East India Company.

			“Besides, my lawyers—I beg your pardon,” Abernathy corrected himself in faux self-deprecation, “my solicitors here in England have made quite clear there are certain legal restrictions the Crown has in place regarding reliance on foreign suppliers of items critical to your Admiralty and armaments—especially in a time of war. Even though there’s no war on right now, I’m going to assume they’ll exercise maximum caution. What I am proposing is open and above board; however, I prefer to remain, for the time being, a discreet silent partner for now. Given the terms I’ve proposed, you have my word of honor that all covenants for the purchase of shipyards and such will be honored ahead of schedule and in full.”

			Abernathy’s explanation was meant to put Sir Nigel at ease. Still, instead of reassuring him, it gave the Englishman a distinct feeling that the enormous American had just stomped across his grave. Abernathy had made it clear that his offer was not contingent on anything other than a handshake over this dinner, with official paperwork to follow at Sir Nigel’s solicitors’ no later than the following Monday by noon. That timing alone told Sir Nigel his cousin had already been engaged in detailed negotiations with Cyrus Abernathy for quite some time. In all likelihood, that meant there were other members of the Admiralty Board who saw the chance to gain personal profit from this venture. Opportunities to safely profit from the misery of war rarely remained secret very long.

			Despite misgivings he could not quite put form to, Sir Nigel recognized the incredible opportunity that Cyrus Abernathy had set before him, and greed won the day. With a prestigious business partner who was also president of the New York Stock Exchange and the bonus of generous financial terms that were almost a gift from Providence, Sir Nigel had no choice but to accept Abernathy’s offer. Obtaining and completing a major decades-long Admiralty project would establish Hawthorne and Cavendish Furniture and Carpentry Works of London as a titan to be reckoned with in Britain’s shipbuilding industry and beyond. A palpable enthusiasm now infected Sir Nigel and Grenville as the realization of just how wealthy this good fortune might make them dawned on the two Englishmen. Neither of them doubted Cyrus Abernathy was as good as his word.

			In contrast, and curiously unnoticed by either of the Englishmen in their avaricious glee, Abernathy sat in his chair like a potentate, contently puffing on his cigar as if he had known all along that Sir Nigel would leap at the opportunity set before him. As one of the wealthiest business tycoons in the United States, along with the dubious honor of being the most ruthless, Cyrus Abernathy was well aware of what his fortune could accomplish once he set his mind to using it. Abernathy was the archetype of what would become known in America as a “robber baron.” In several years, due to innocuous clauses that he would have inserted into the contracts, Abernathy would make Hawthorne and Cavendish Furniture and Carpentry Works a wholly owned subsidiary of the New York and Pennsylvania Coal and Lumber Company. “‘Come into my parlor,’ said the spider to the fly,” indeed. Gobbling up Hawthorne and Cavendish was just the appetizer in Abernathy’s malign plans for revenge.

			“Cyrus, your terms are more than acceptable. In a word, they are quite generous,” Sir Nigel said.

			Damn right they are, you groveling little toad, thought Abernathy.

			As Sir Nigel stood to shake Cyrus Abernathy’s hand, he said, “Cyrus, on behalf of Hawthorne and Cavendish Furniture and Carpentry Works of London, I accept your offer. I think we should toast our new business arrangement. Grenville mentioned that you had procured another bottle of fine port for the occasion, so I say let’s break it out!”

			Grenville clapped his hands with a hearty “Here, here!” and the grinning Abernathy remained enigmatically quiet, puffing his cigar. There was a knock at the door, as if by invisible command, and the head sommelier for the Grand Brighton Hotel entered, pushing an ornate sterling silver rolling cart. In addition to the crystal wine glasses, the cart carried several wine bottles of the most sought-after port wine in the world, the 1735 Tawny Port, along with a large selection of the finest blue, aged gouda, Gruyère, and cheddar cheeses available, and a sealed box of fresh Cuban cigars.

			Abernathy’s lascivious eyes danced over the cart’s contents while Grenville poured the first of many glasses of Tawny Port that night. Once the wine had been poured, and the hotel sommelier had retreated from the suite, Cyrus Abernathy stood and raised himself, along with his glass of port, to his full height.

			“Gentlemen, I propose a toast to our new partnership.” Ignoring his own unpatriotic sentiment, especially for an American, Abernathy continued. “May our endeavor ensure that Her Majesty Queen Victoria’s Royal Navy keeps the world’s oceans safe for commerce and trade for many years to come! Rule, Britannia! Britannia, rule the waves, I say!”

			Glasses clinked as the three men settled in for several more hours of relaxed, celebratory conversation over their wine, cheeses, and cigars. The Hawthorne and Cavendish solicitors in London and the attorneys for Cyrus Abernathy would draw up the documents marking the official start of the new consortium two days hence. Still, the camaraderie and mutual business interests discussed far into the late spring evening at the luxury hotel overlooking the English Channel were the real beginning of the business partnership. Now all that remained would be for the sclerotic British Admiralty Board bureaucracy to release the proposal requests to refit and rebuild the mighty British ships-of-the-line. But Cyrus Abernathy was a patient man for whom months and years meant little. He had his eyes on larger prizes than a fleet of British warships. His sights were set on humiliating an empire.
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